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M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

Management submits their report and the financial statements of BMW 
US Capital, LLC (“BMW US Capital” or “the Company”) for the period 
ended December 31, 2021.

Principal activities
The Company was formed on January 14, 1993, and until December 31, 
2000, was a wholly owned subsidiary of BMW (US) Holding Corp., which 
is ultimately owned by Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft 
(BMW AG). Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted a legal 
structure permitted under the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act 
dated August 1, 1999, and became a limited liability company whose 
sole member is BMW (US) Holding Corp, which is ultimately owned by 
BMW AG. The conversion of the Company to a Limited Liability Com-
pany (LLC) did not have any effect on the liabilities or obligations of the 
organization and did not constitute dissolution of the converting entity. 
The Company’s purpose is to assist in the financing of business activ-
ities and in managing interest and foreign exchange risk for BMW Group 
and its affiliates, primarily in the U.S., and to provide services in con-
nection therewith.

The Company’s activities primarily consist of providing long- and short-
term liquidity, inter-company funding, factoring of receivables at arm’s 
length for BMW Group companies, being the leader of the US Dollar 
cash pool, and operating as the in-house bank for USD, CAD and MXN 
for the BMW Group. The Company aims to minimize the risks from 
changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. Protection against 
such risks is primarily provided by hedging through financial instruments 
with matching maturities, amounts and other properties. Derivative fi-
nancial instruments are used, such as interest rate swaps, foreign ex-
change swaps and forward rate agreements, to reduce the risk remain-
ing after netting.

Business review
Despite global challenges such as semiconductor component supply 
issues and the impact of the coronavirus pandemic, BMW Group re-
tained leadership in the premium segment. Driven by brisk demand and 
an attractive product range, automobile deliveries grew by a solid 8.4% 
to a total of 2,521,514 BMW, MINI and Rolls- Royce brand vehicles (2020: 
2,325,179 units), enabling BMW Group to extend its lead in the premium 
segment.

Deliveries of BMW brand vehicles grew by 9.1% to 2,213,790 units (2020: 
2,028,841 units). MINI also recorded an increase, with deliveries rising 
to 302,138 units (2020: 292,582 units; +3.3%). Rolls-Royce Motor Cars 
delivered a total of 5,586 units (2020: 3,756 units; +48.7%), the high-
est figure recorded for the luxury marque to date. Furthermore, the Mo-
torcycles segment had the most successful year in its history with a 
total of 194,261 units delivered during the year under report (2020: 
169,272 units), 14.8% up on the previous year.

Deliveries of electric vehicles are also at record level. It continues to gain 
in significance for the entire sector and is a key driver of sales volume 
growth for the BMW Group. The trend is reflected in the sharp rise in the 
sale of electrified models offered by the BMW and MINI brands. With a 
total of 328,314 units, deliveries jumped sharply by 70.4% in the year 
under report (2020: 192,662 units). Demand was particularly strong for 
the Group’s all-electric models and delivery figures more than doubled 
year-on-year to 103,854 units (2020: 44,541 units; +133.2%). Their share 
of total deliveries was 4.1% (2020: 1.9%) in the year under report. Two 
additional all-electric models, the BMW iX and the BMW i4, went on sale 
towards the end of 2021, both of which have been highly acclaimed in the 
trade press. By the end of the period under report, the BMW Group had 
a total of 14 electrified models on the roads. In 2022, the product range 
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will be expanded to include the all-electric BMW i7 luxury sedan and the 
BMW iX1. The increased share of deliveries accounted for by electrified 
vehicles and the rigorous use of Efficient Dynamics technologies enabled 
further progress to be made in decarbonizing fleet emissions.

The financial year 2021 was a successful one for the Financial Services 
segment, with profit before tax up by 117.6% to €3,753 million (2020: 
€1,725 million). In the previous year, additional risk provisioning expens-
es for credit and residual value risks had had a negative impact on earn-
ings. The year under report, however, was influenced by the exception-
ally positive trend on pre-owned vehicle markets, particularly in the USA 
and the UK. The upturn on the pre-owned market caused the remarket-
ing values of lease returns to increase sharply. Alongside this favorable 
development, segment earnings also benefited from the unchanged low 
level of allowances that needed to be recognized for credit risks. The 
credit loss ratio on the total credit portfolio fell to a historically low level 
of 0.18% at December 31, 2021 (2020: 0.21%), comprising 0.11% (2020: 
0.16%) for leasing business and 0.28% (2020: 0.31%) for credit financ-
ing business with retail customers. In balance sheet terms, business 
volume grew slightly by 4.8% to stand at €139,530 million at the end of 
the reporting period (2020: €133,093 million).

Group revenues were significantly higher in the financial year 2021, re-
flecting the impact of coronavirus-related dealership closures in the 
previous 12-month period (2021: €111,239 million; 2020: €98,990 mil-
lion; +12.4%). Sales volume was also higher in 2021, whereby the in-
crease was held down by production shortfalls due to supply bottlenecks 
for semiconductor components. However, this unfavorable impact was 
more than offset by improved pricing, due to both the growing desire 
for individual mobility on the one hand and the reduced worldwide avail-
ability of products triggered by those same semiconductor component 
shortages on the other. In addition, revenues were also boosted by 
favorable product mix effects due to increased sales of high-revenue 
models. The semiconductor scarcity was also reflected in higher selling 
prices on pre-owned vehicle markets, which in turn gave rise to higher 
revenues from the sale of lease returns. Group profit before tax of 
€16,060 million was significantly higher than one year earlier (2020: 
€5,222 million) and therefore in line with expectations.

Regarding BMW US Capital, it is important to highlight that the net result 
arises predominantly from the net interest margin between funding 
provided to affiliates and the cost of funds from the Company’s borrow-
ings, along with the fair value gain or loss from financial instruments. 
BMW US Capital, in October 2020 updated its business model and im-
plemented a liquidity fee to be received from BMW AG. The Company 
reported a gain before taxation of $49.2  million, an increase of 
$138.3 million, compared to the loss before taxation for December 31, 
2020 of $89.0 million. The increase was primarily driven by the lower 
interest rate environment. 

The Company applies IFRS 9 for the valuation of its financial instru-
ments. IFRS 9 requires that all derivative instruments be recorded on 
the statements of financial position at their respective fair values upon 
initial recognition. Fair value changes are reflected in the statements of 
comprehensive income / (loss). Further details can be found in the ap-
propriate footnotes throughout the report. 

The progress of the Company is monitored by financial and non-finan-
cial data on a regular basis with emphasis on key performance indica-
tors, including net interest margin, and loan outstanding at the report-
ing date. These key performance indicators are reviewed and adjusted 
regularly in line with the requirements of the business.

Outlook
According to International Monetary Fund (IMF) projections in January, 
the global economy will continue to grow in 2022, less strongly than in 
the previous year, and reach a level of around 4.0%. Risks definitely 
persist, however, first and foremost due to the further course of the war 
in Ukraine, the estimated impact of which has been taken into account 
in the current economic forecasts only rudimentarily. High inflation is 
likely to lead to interest rate increases in some countries and weaken 
demand to some extent. New virus variants, pandemic-related restric-
tions or prolonged supply bottlenecks could slow the pace of econom-
ic growth.

In the Eurozone, GDP growth is projected to be around 3.0% in 2022. 
At 2.1%, the growth rate in Germany is expected to be slightly lower than 
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one year earlier and similar figures are predicted for France (+2.8%), 
Italy (+3.1%) and Spain (+4.6%). 

The UK economy is projected to grow by 3.5% in 2022 despite labor 
shortages and continued supply bottlenecks.

A growth rate of 3.2% is projected for the USA in 2022, which is still 
positive, although not as strong as in the previous year. The stimulus 
and infrastructure packages adopted by the US Administration are like-
ly to provide support for the economy.

After strong growth in the previous year, momentum in China is expect-
ed to drop slightly in 2022. A growth rate of 5.1% is therefore projected 
for the 12-month period. After a slight recovery in the year under report, 
the pace of growth in Japan is projected to increase moderately in 2022 
(+2.3%).

Currency markets and international interest rate environment
Currencies of particular importance for the international operations of 
the BMW Group are the Chinese renminbi, the British pound, the US 
dollar and the Japanese yen. 

Whereas the European Central Bank (ECB) is likely to keep persevering 
with its expansionary monetary policy in 2022, the US Federal Reserve 
has announced its intention to tighten its policy in light of high inflation 
and the USA’s strong economic recovery and to raise interest rates 
during the first half of 2022. Compared with the previous year, the US 
dollar is therefore likely to appreciate against the euro.

Following the gain in value of the British pound against the euro in 2021 
and the tighter monetary policy predicted in the UK over the 12-month 
period, combined with moderate interest rate hikes, a further slight ap-
preciation of the currency is expected in 2022.

The central bank in Japan is unlikely to change its highly expansionary 
monetary policy in 2022. The yen is therefore likely to depreciate slight-
ly against the euro.

After appreciating against the euro in 2021, the Chinese renminbi is 
expected to lose in value slightly in the course of 2022, due to the Chi-
nese central bank’s recent decision to ease monetary policy with a view 
to ensuring that the greater demand for financing can be met.

The Russian rouble has depreciated significantly, especially since the 
beginning of the military conflict with Ukraine. The currencies of emerg-
ing market countries such as Brazil and India are likely to remain under 
pressure against the US dollar and the euro in 2022, mainly due to the 
ongoing impact of the coronavirus pandemic.

International automobile markets
Supply bottlenecks are likely to continue having a dampening impact on 
automobile markets in 2022. The war in Ukraine will significantly exac-
erbate the current supply bottlenecks. The forecasts are generally based 
on the assumption that the supply bottlenecks will be overcome in the 
second half of 2022. Registration figures worldwide are expected to grow 
at a slightly faster rate than in the previous year (approximately 77 million 
units; +4%). However, due to the marked weakness of recent years, 
absolute registration figures remain well below normal levels.

Europe’s automobile markets are expected to grow moderately in 2022 
(12.5 million units; +6%). The trend is similar in the USA, with the mar-
ket expected to grow by 6% to 15.9 million units in 2022. However, this 
is still below the pre-coronavirus crisis level. 

In China, on the other hand, the automobile market as a whole is ex-
pected to remain flat, reflecting the slowdown in economic momentum. 
After the slight recovery in 2021, passenger vehicle registrations are 
therefore expected to be in the region of 21.2 million units in 2022, just 
1% up on the previous year.

The Japanese automobile market is currently predicted to expand slight-
ly in 2022 (4.4 million units; +2%).
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International motorcycle markets
The BMW Group expects, subject to the further development in Ukraine, 
the world’s motorcycle markets in the 250 cc plus class to remain stable 
in 2022, with volumes generally remaining at the previous year’s level.

The impact of the war in Ukraine, the limited availability of vehicle com-
ponents, the further course of the coronavirus pandemic, and macro-
economic factors will continue to influence the performance of motor-
cycles markets in 2022.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Company actively participates in the internal control system in place 
throughout the BMW Group aimed at ensuring the effectiveness of op-
erations. It adheres to the principal features of the internal control sys-
tem, in relation to the Company and its financial reporting processes. A 
detailed description and explanation of the internal control system is 
available within the BMW Group Annual Report for the year 2021.

Management assesses the design and effectiveness of the internal control 
over financial reporting on the basis of internal review procedures per-
formed at regular intervals. Effective measures are implemented whenev-
er weaknesses are identified and reported. Based on these assessments, 
management believes that the Company maintained effective internal 
controls over financial reporting during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The management of the business and the execution of the Company’s 
strategy are subject to a number of risks. Detailed descriptions of the main 
risks facing the Company and the instruments used to manage these risks 
are presented in the notes to the financial statements. New virus variants, 
pandemic related restrictions, prolonged supply bottlenecks and inflation 
will have impacts on the Company’s financial performance.

Research and development
The Company does not carry out any research and development.

Creditor payment policy
The Company’s policy concerning the payment of its trade creditors is 
to pay in accordance with contractual and other legal obligations.

Members and members’ interests
The members who held office during the year or subsequently were as 
follows:

BMW (US) Holding Corporation, as the sole member

Employees
During the period ended December 31, 2021, the Company employed 
16 persons, all of which are included within these accounts. 

Political and charitable contributions
The company made no political or charitable contributions during the 
period ended December 31, 2021.

Disclosure of information to auditors
Management who held office at the date of approval of this manage-
ment report confirms that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors 
are unaware; and management has taken all the steps that ought to 
have taken to make itself aware of any relevant audit information and 
has made such information available to the Company’s auditors.

Auditors
The independent auditor (“certified public accountants”) of BMW US 
Capital is PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungs-
gesellschaft, Frankfurt, Germany. 

BMW US Capital, LLC

April 25, 2022
Christian Kunz
President
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R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y  S TAT E M E N T

Statement of Management responsibilities in respect of financial 
statements and the Management Report
Management is responsible for preparing the financial statements and 
the Management Report in accordance with applicable laws and regu-
lations of Luxembourg, which BMW US Capital, LLC has chosen as its 
Home Member State under the regulations of the EU Transparency Di-
rective.

Luxembourg Law, pursuant to the EU Transparency Directive, requires 
Management to prepare audited financial statements for each financial 
year. Management has elected to prepare the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board. Management 
makes every effort to ensure the financial statements present fairly the 
financial position of the Company and the performance for that period.

Management is also responsible for preparing the Management Report 
that complies with the law.

The financial information contained in the Management Report con-
cerning the operations, economic performance and financial condition 
of the Company is subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties 
and contingencies, many of which are beyond the control of the Man-
agement of the Company, which may cause actual results, performance 

or achievements to differ materially from anticipated results, perfor-
mance or achievements. Also, the financial information is based upon 
Management’s estimates of fair values and future costs, using current-
ly available information. Factors that could cause such differences in-
clude, but are not limited to:

	— risks of economic slowdown, downturn or recession, 

	— risks inherent in changes in market interest rates and spreads,

	— lending conditions to companies turning to the worse, thereby in-
creasing the cost of borrowing,

	— changes in funding markets, including commercial paper and term 
debt,

	— uncertainties associated with risk management, including credit, 
prepayment, asset/liability, interest rate and currency risks,

	— changes in laws or regulations governing BMW US Capital, LLC’s 
business and operations, and

	— changes in competitive factors.

Management has a general responsibility to design and implement 
controls to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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Responsibility Statement by the Company’s legal representatives
To the best of Management’s knowledge, and in accordance with the 
applicable reporting principles, International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards as issued by the International Accounting Standard Board, the 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss of BMW US Capital, LLC, and the 
Management Report includes a fair review of the development and per-
formance of the business and the position of BMW US Capital, LLC, 
together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks as-
sociated with the expected development of BMW US Capital, LLC.

BMW US Capital, LLC

April 25, 2022
Christian Kunz
President
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I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I T O R ’ S  R E P O R T

To Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft, Munich

R E P O R T  O N  T H E  A U D I T  O F  
T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of BMW US Capital, LLC, 
Woodcliff Lake, New Jersey, which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at December 31, 2021, and the statement of comprehensive 
income / (loss), the statement of changes in member’s capital and the 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the finan-
cial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 
2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Company 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Germany, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and ap-
propriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, 
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements for the 
financial year of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

In our view, the matter of most significance in our audit was as follows:

1  	 Accounting treatment of hedging relationships

Our presentation of this key audit matter has been structured as follows:

1  	 Matter and issue 

2  	 Audit approach and findings

3  	 Reference to further information

Hereinafter we present the key audit matter:

1  	 Accounting treatment of hedging relationships

1  	� The company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge in par-
ticular interest rate risks in combination with foreign exchange rate 
risks arising from its ordinary business activities. The management’s 
hedging policy is documented in internal guidelines and serves as 
the basis for these transactions. The company enters into interest 
rate derivatives for the purpose of achieving a desired ratio of fixed 
to variable interest rate exposures. Interest rate risk is mitigated by 
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concluding interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate 
swaps. 

�	� Derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized in profit or loss. The sum of all derivatives with positive 
fair values amounts to $553 million as of the reporting date, while 
the sum of all derivatives with negative fair values amounts to 
$274 million. Hedges of the exposure to changes in fair value of 
recognized assets and liabilities that are attributable to interest rate 
risk are designated as fair value hedge relationships, if hedge ac-
counting requirements pursuant to IFRS 9 are met. When applying 
fair value hedge accounting the cross-currency basis spread is not 
designated as part of the hedge relationship. At the reporting date, 
the company held derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
with positive fair values amounting to $545 million and negative fair 
values amounting to $264 million. 

	� The effective portion of the cumulative gain or loss from measuring 
the derivative hedging instruments at fair value is recognized in fi-
nancial result (profit or loss). The cumulative gain or loss of the 
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is recognized as hedged 
fair value in financial result. Changes in the fair value of the hedging 
instruments caused by changes in the cross-currency basis spread 
are not designated in the hedge relationship, instead these fair val-
ue changes are recognized in other comprehensive income and are 
accumulated in the “cost of hedging reserve”. The accumulated 
changes due to the cross-currency basis spread are reclassified from 
other comprehensive income to profit or loss in the periods during 
which the hedged cash flows of the hedged items affect profit or 
loss. Insofar the reclassification of accumulated changes due to 
cross-currency basis spreads takes place over the duration of the 
hedging relationship. 

	� As of the balance sheet date, a cumulative amount of $266 million 
(before deferred taxes) was recognized as hedge fair value adjust-
ment of designated hedged items. In the cost of hedging reserve, a 

cumulative amount of –$4 million was recognized net of deferred 
taxes.

	� From our point of view these matters were of particular significance 
for our audit due to the high nominal amounts of hedged items as 
well as the extensive accounting and disclosure requirements of 
IFRS 9 and IFRS 7.

2  	� As part of our audit and with the assistance of our internal special-
ists, we assessed, among other things, the contractual and financial 
parameters and evaluated the accounting treatment, including the 
effects on profit or loss and equity, of the various hedge relation-
ships.

	� Together with our specialists, we also evaluated the company’s in-
ternal control system regarding derivative financial instruments, 
including the internal activities to record and maintain data in the 
treasury management system. In addition to evaluating the internal 
control system, we obtained bank confirmations for the hedging in-
struments in order to assess completeness. With regards to the 
assessment of the ineffectiveness of designated hedge relation-
ships, we obtained and evaluated the quantitative assessment con-
ducted by management. In doing so, we were able to satisfy our-
selves that the requirements for applying fair value hedge 
accounting according to IFRS 9 were substantiated and sufficiently 
documented.

3  	� The company’s disclosures on hedge accounting are contained in 
sections entitled “Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting 
Policies and Practices” and “Risk Management” in the notes to the 
financial statements.
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Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other infor-
mation comprises the annual report but does not include the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other infor-
mation and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion there-
on.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsi-
bility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or oth-
erwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to re-
port that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Stan-
dards Board, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, dis-
closing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that in-
cludes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstate-
ments can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, in-
dividually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:

	— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the finan-
cial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evi-
dence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresenta-
tions, or the override of internal control. 

	— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

	— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.

	— Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the go-
ing concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
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conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material un-
certainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclu-
sions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

	— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the fi-
nancial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the fi-
nancial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that 
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding inde-
pendence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, 
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse conse-
quences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 
public interest benefits of such communication.

R E P O R T  O N  O T H E R  L E G A L  
A N D  R E G U L AT O R Y  R E Q U I R E M E N T S

Report on the Assurance on the Electronic Rendering of the  
Financial Statements Prepared for Publication Purposes

Assurance Opinion
We have performed assurance work to obtain reasonable assurance as 
to whether the rendering of the financial statements (hereinafter the 
“ESEF documents”) contained in the electronic file BMW_US_Capital_
Annual_Report_ESEF-2021-12-31.zip and prepared for publication pur-
poses complies in all material respects with the requirements of the 
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 (“ESEF format”). This assurance 
work extends only to the conversion of the information contained in the 
financial statements into the ESEF format and therefore relates neither 
to the information contained within these renderings nor to any other 
information contained in the electronic file identified above.

In our opinion, the rendering of the financial statements contained in 
the electronic file identified above and prepared for publication purpos-
es complies in all material respects with the requirements of the Dele-
gated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 for the electronic reporting format. 
Beyond this assurance opinion and our audit opinion on the accompa-
nying financial statements for the financial year from January 1 to De-
cember 31, 2021 contained in the “Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements” above, we do not express any assurance opinion on the 
information contained within these renderings or on the other informa-
tion contained in the electronic file identified above.

Basis for the Assurance Opinion
We conducted our assurance work on the rendering of the financial 
statements contained in the electronic file identified above in accor-
dance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements 
3000 (Revised). Our responsibility in accordance therewith is further 
described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Assurance Work on 
the ESEF Documents” section. Our audit firm applies the International 
Standard on Quality Control 1.
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Responsibilities of the Management for the ESEF Documents
The management of the Company is responsible for the preparation of 
the ESEF documents including the electronic renderings of the financial 
statements in accordance with the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815. 

In addition, the management of the Company is responsible for such 
internal control as management has considered necessary to enable the 
preparation of ESEF documents that are free from material non-com-
pliance with the requirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 
for the electronic reporting format, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Assurance Work on the ESEF Documents
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
ESEF documents are free from material non-compliance with the re-
quirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, whether due to 
fraud or error. We exercise professional judgment and maintain profes-
sional skepticism throughout the assurance work. We also:

	— Identify and assess the risks of material non-compliance with the 
requirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform assurance procedures re-
sponsive to those risks, and obtain assurance evidence that is suf-
ficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our assurance opinion.

	— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the assur-
ance work on the ESEF documents in order to design assurance 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an assurance opinion on the effective-
ness of these controls.

	— Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documents, i.e., whether 
the electronic file containing the ESEF documents meets the re-
quirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 in the ver-
sion in force at the date of the financial statements on the technical 
specification for this electronic file.

	— Evaluate whether the ESEF documents provide an XHTML render-
ing with content equivalent to the audited financial statements.

R E F E R E N C E  T O  A N  O T H E R  M AT T E R – 
U S E  O F  T H E  A U D I T O R ’ S  R E P O R T

Our auditor’s report must always be read together with the audited fi-
nancial statements as well as the assured ESEF documents. The finan-
cial statements converted to the ESEF format – including the versions 
to be published to the operator of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange – are 
merely electronic renderings of the audited financial statements and do 
not take their place. In particular, the “Report on the Assurance on the 
Electronic Rendering of the Financial Statements Prepared for Publica-
tion Purposes” and our assurance opinion contained therein are to be 
used solely together with the assured ESEF documents made available 
in electronic form.

G E R M A N  P U B L I C  A U D I T O R  
R E S P O N S I B L E  F O R  T H E  E N G A G E M E N T

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent au-
ditor’s report is Andreas Fell.

Munich, April 25, 2022

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Petra Justenhoven	 Andreas Fell
Wirtschaftsprüferin	 Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public Auditor)	 (German Public Auditor)
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S TAT E M E N T S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 1  A N D  2 0 2 0

in thousands of dollars Notes 2021 2020

Receivables from  
BMW Group companies 3a 13,505,220 16,337,361

Derivative assets 3f 461,058 987,571

Deferred tax assets  10,304 8,373

Total non-current assets  13,976,582 17,333,305

Cash and cash equivalents  95,067 993,754

Receivables from  
BMW Group companies 3a 20,386,612 16,636,810

Derivative assets 3f 91,555 208,297

Other assets  – 22

Total current assets  20,573,234 17,838,883

Total assets  34,549,816 35,172,188

in thousands of dollars Notes 2021 2020

Member's capital  11,000 11,000

Capital reserves  144,000 144,000

Accumulated other  
comprehensive loss  (5,921) (10,607)

Retained earnings  24,651 (11,972)

Total member's capital  173,730 132,421

Pension obligation 3c 166 424

Term debt 3e 16,221,525 15,597,433

Liabilities due to  
BMW Group companies 3a 540,000 1,240,000

Derivative liabilities 3f 171,197 269,248

Total non-current liabilities  16,932,888 17,107,105

Term debt 3e 3,336,005 6,801,010

Commercial paper 3d 1,219,937 –

Liabilities due to  
BMW Group companies 3a 12,783,286 10,951,277

Derivative liabilities 3f 102,706 174,785

Other liabilities 3b 1,264 5,590

Total current liabilities  17,443,198 17,932,662

Total liabilities  34,376,086 35,039,767

Total member's capital  
and liabilities  34,549,816 35,172,188

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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S TAT E M E N T S  O F  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E / ( LO S S )
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 1  A N D  2 0 2 0

in thousands of dollars Notes 2021 2020

BMW Group companies  447,403 712,442

Third parties  565,555 755,378

Interest income 4a 1,012,958 1,467,820

BMW Group companies  (14,014) (84,411)

Third parties  (1,088,530) (1,437,940)

Interest expense 4a (1,102,544) (1,522,351)

Net Interest margin  (89,586) (54,531)

Gains from financial transactions  1,334,789 1,104,267

Losses from financial transactions  (1,191,181) (1,134,629)

Financial result 4b 143,608 (30,362)

General and administrative expenses  (4,790) (4,131)

Net income / (loss) before taxation  49,232 (89,024)

Income taxes 4c (12,609) 21,607

Net income / (loss) after taxation  36,623 (67,417)

in thousands of dollars Notes 2021 2020

Remeasurement of the net defined 
benefit liability for pension and 
post-retirement plans  278 (176)

Deferred taxes  (63) 41

Items not to be expected to be 
reclassified to net income  215 (135)

Costs of hedging  5,932 6,436

Deferred taxes  (1,461) (1,636)

Items than can be reclassified to 
the income statement in the future  4,471 4,800

Other comprehensive income,  
net of tax  4,686 4,665

Total comprehensive income / (loss)  41,309 (62,752)

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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S TAT E M E N T S  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  M E M B E R ’ S  C A P I TA L
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 1  A N D  2 0 2 0

Accumulated other  
comprehensive (loss) / income

in thousands of dollars
Member’s  

capital
Capital  

reserves Pension
Cost of  

hedging
Retained  
earnings

Total  
member’s capital

Balance at December 31, 2020 11,000 144,000 (2,465) (8,142) (11,972) 132,421

Other comprehensive income for the period   215 4,471  4,686

Net income / (loss)     36,623 36,623

Balance at December 31, 2021 11,000 144,000 (2,250) (3,671) 24,651 173,730

Balance at December 31, 2019 11,000 144,000 (2,330) (12,942) 55,445 195,173

Other comprehensive income for the period   (135) 4,800 – 4,665

Net income / (loss)     (67,417) (67,417)

Balance at December 31, 2020 11,000 144,000 (2,465) (8,142) (11,972) 132,421

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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S TAT E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 1  A N D  2 0 2 0

in thousands of dollars 2021 2020

Net income / (loss) 36,623 (67,417)

Change in pension obligation 215 (135)

Foreign exchange losses / (gains) 4,415 1,228

Fair value change due to hedge accounting (792,848) 730,567

Fair value measurement losses / (gains) – 
derivatives 489,813 (418,642)

Interest expense – term debt 525,841 566,232

Change in deferred tax assets / liabilities (1,931) (8,275)

Interest income (3,817) (116,601)

Interest expense 59,920 29,073

Total adjustments for non-cash items 281,608 783,447

Change in receivables from / liabilities  
to BMW Group companies 594,343 1,108,195

Change in other assets 22 (22)

Change in pension obligation (258) 198

Change in other liabilities (4,326) 4,362

Interest received on free-standing derivatives 42,143 31,539

Interest paid on free-standing derivatives (281,004) (196,260)

Interest received 13,138 679,990

Interest paid (453,653) (51,045)

Total adjustments for cash items (89,595) 1,576,957

Cash flow from operating activities 228,636 2,292,987

in thousands of dollars 2021 2020

Proceeds from term debt issuances 4,495,485 3,988,105

Repayment of term debt issuances (6,525,907) (2,899,391)

Proceeds from commercial paper issuances 20,886,259 8,575,104

Repayment of commercial paper issuances (19,666,342) (11,158,779)

Interest paid – term debt (543,464) (557,806)

Interest received on  
fair value hedge derivatives 226,646 77,595

Cash flow from financing equivalents (1,127,323) (1,975,172)

Change in cash and cash equivalents (898,687) 317,815

Cash and cash equivalents  
at beginning of year 993,754 675,939

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 95,067 993,754

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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N O T E S  T O  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 1  A N D  2 0 2 0

1	 Nature of Operations
BMW US Capital, LLC (the Company) was formed on January 14, 1993, 
and until December 31, 2000, was a wholly owned subsidiary of BMW 
(US) Holding Corp., which is ultimately owned by BMW AG (Bayerische 
Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft).

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted a legal structure per-
mitted under the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act dated August 
1, 1999, and became a limited liability company whose sole member is 
BMW (US) Holding Corp., which is ultimately owned by BMW AG. The 
conversion of the Company to a Limited Liability Company (LLC) did not 
have any effect on the liabilities or obligations of the organization and 
did not constitute dissolution of the converting entity. As a result of the 
conversion, the stockholder’s equity of BMW US Capital Corp. was con-
tributed to the Company and is now accounted for as member’s capital.

The Company’s purpose is to assist, via long and short term advances, 
the financing of the activities and managing interest and foreign ex-
change risks for BMW AG or the Parent and its affiliates (BMW Group), 
primarily in the United States, and to provide services in connection 
therewith.

The Company’s U.S. affiliates operate primarily in the automotive in-
dustry and generate revenues across North America, with a concentra-
tion in states with large populations such as California, Texas, Florida, 
New York, and New Jersey.

The Company’s business as a service provider is connected to the au-
tomotive and financial activities of BMW Group with respect to yearly 
fluctuations due to overall economic changes and their impact over 
BMW Group’s businesses.

The Company’s revenues and expenses arise primarily from interests 
on deposits and borrowings and fair value gains and losses on financial 
instruments, which include derivatives executed for hedging purposes. 

The debts, obligations, and liabilities of the Company, whether arising 
in contract, tort, or otherwise, shall be solely the debts, obligations, and 
liabilities of the Company, and no member, manager, and/or officer of 
the Company shall be obligated personally for any such debt, obligation, 
or liability of the Company solely by reason of being a member, manag-
er and/or officer.

2	� Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies and 
Practices

(a) Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

All Interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee which 
are mandatory at December 31, 2021 have been applied.

The following financial reporting pronouncements, issued by the IASB, 
have been applied for the first time in 2021:

Standard Interpretation
Date of  

issue by IASB 
Date of mandatory 

application IASB 

Amendments to IFRS 9, 
IAS 39, IFRS 7

Interest Rate 
Benchmark Reform 

– Phase 2 8/27/2020 01/01/2021
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In August 2020, the IASB published the Amendment Standard Interest 
Rate Benchmark Reform (IBOR) – Phase 2. The amendments contain 
a number of reliefs to mitigate the impact on the accounting treatment 
of hedge relationships, financial instruments and lease liabilities result-
ing from the reform of interest rate benchmarks. 

The BMW Group is impacted by the reform of interest rate benchmarks 
primarily in the area of financial liabilities and related interest rate hedg-
es. For a significant proportion of these instruments, the previous 
benchmark interest rate was replaced by an alternative interest rate in 
2021. The adoption of the rules contained in the amended Standard 
means that the existing hedging relationships can be continued and the 
contractual changes arising due to the interest rate benchmark reform 
therefore do not have any direct impact on profit or loss. 

Further explanatory comments on the impact of the interest rate bench-
mark reform are provided in ↗ note 7.

Other financial reporting standards issued by the IASB and not yet ap-
plied are not expected to have any significant impact on the Company 
Financial Statements.

The financial statements were authorized for issuance by management 
of the Company on April 25, 2022.

(b) Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost/
accrual basis except for the following material items in the financial 
statements of position:

	— Derivative financial instrument, and

	— Recognized financial assets and liabilities that are part of fair value 
hedge relationships are measured at fair value in respect of the risk 
being hedged in accordance with IFRS 9.

(c) Use of Estimates in Financial Statement Preparation
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IAS 1, Pre-
sentation of Financial Statements, requires management to estimate 
the effects of uncertain future events on assets and liabilities at the 
statement of financial position date in order to determine the carrying 
amounts of those assets and liabilities.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which 
the estimates are revised and in future periods affected. Due to the 
current financial market conditions, the estimates contained in these 
financial statements concerning the operations, economic performance, 
and financial condition of the Company are subject to known and un-
known risks, uncertainties and contingencies many of which are beyond 
the control of Company management, which may cause actual results, 
performance or achievements to differ materially from anticipated re-
sults, performance, or achievements. Also, the estimates are based 
upon management’s estimates of fair values, using currently available 
information. Factors that could cause differences include, but are not 
limited to the following:

	— risks of economic slowdown, downturn or recession

	— risks inherent in changes in market interest rates and credit espe-
cially in an environment of unpredictable financial market conditions

	— lending conditions to companies turning to the worse, thereby in-
creasing the cost of borrowing

	— changes in funding markets, including commercial paper and term 
debt

	— uncertainties associated with risk management, including credit, 
prepayment, asset/liability, interest rate and currency risks

	— changes in laws or regulations governing our business and opera-
tions

	— changes in competitive factors
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For the valuation of financial instruments, the most significant assump-
tions and estimates relate to the interest rates and expected cash flows 
used in the valuation models.

(d) Functional and Presentation Currency
These financial statements are presented in United States dollars (USD), 
which is the functional currency of the Company. All amounts have been 
rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

(e) Foreign Currency Transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional cur-
rency using spot exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Mon-
etary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are translated to the functional currency using the spot 
exchange rate at that date. The economic effect of foreign currency 
transactions is recognized in the statements of comprehensive in-
come / (loss).

(f) Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of 
one company and a financial liability or an equity instrument of anoth-
er. Financial instruments are recognized when the Company becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way pur-
chases or sales of financial assets are recognized at the settlement 
date.

Derivative financial instruments of the Company are subject to legally 
enforceable master netting agreements or similar contracts. However, 
receivables and payables relating to derivative financial instruments 
are not netted due to non-fulfilment of the stipulated criteria. Offsetting 
would have the impact on the carrying amounts of derivatives shown 
in the additional disclosures to financial instruments.

Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities are only offset if a legally 
enforceable right currently exists and it is actually intended to offset the 
relevant amounts. No financial assets and liabilities have been netted 

in the Company due to the fact that the necessary requirements for 
netting have not been met.

Non-Derivative Financial Instruments
Regular way purchases or sales of non-derivative financial instruments 
are recognized at the settlement date.

Financial assets that represent debt instruments according to IAS 32 
are classified either as 

	— financial assets measured at amortized cost (AC); or 

	— financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

The measurement category AC is applicable to financial assets (debt 
instruments) that meet the following requirements:

	— the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective 
is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; 
and

	— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows 
on specified dates that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets (debt instruments) not meeting the conditions men-
tioned above are classified and measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. The measurement categories “fair value through other comprehen-
sive income with recycling” (in regard to debt instruments under IAS 32) 
and “fair value through other comprehensive income without recycling” 
(regarding equity instruments under IAS 32) are not applicable for the 
Company.

The Company’s non-derivative financial assets include receivables from 
BMW Group companies as well as cash and cash equivalents and are 
classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost.
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All highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months 
or less are considered as cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash 
equivalents consist primarily of short term deposits with original ma-
turities of three months or less from inception. For cash and cash equiv-
alents, the carrying amount approximates the respective fair value due 
to its short maturity.

Non-derivative financial liabilities are classified into the following mea-
surement categories:

	— financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL); or

	— financial liabilities measured at amortized cost (AC).

Non-derivative financial liabilities mainly include term debt, commercial 
paper and liabilities due to BMW Group companies and are classified 
as AC. The company does not apply the fair value option for financial 
assets or financial liabilities.

Financial instruments belonging to the measurement category FVPL 
are recognized at their fair value. Resulting transaction costs are imme-
diately recorded in profit or loss. 

Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized 
cost are initially recognized at fair value under consideration of directly 
attributable transactions costs. On initial measurement, fair value gen-
erally corresponds to the transaction price, i.e. the consideration given 
or received. Subsequently, non-derivative financial assets and liabilities 
are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive contrac-
tual cashflows have expired or been transferred and the Company has 
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial 
liabilities are derecognized when the contractual obligations have ex-
pired or otherwise terminated.

According to IFRS 9, the Company recognizes expected credit losses 
(ECL), for receivables from BMW Group companies as well as cash and 
cash equivalents measured at amortized cost. The receivables are ag-
gregated to determine expected credit losses based on similar risk 
characteristics.

The general approach according to IFRS 9 outlines a three-stage mod-
el to determine the amount of ECL. At initial recognition loss allowanc-
es are recognized at an amount equal to 12-month ECL (stage 1). In 
case of significant increases in the credit risk since initial recognition, 
loss allowances are determined as lifetime ECL (stage 2). 

The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognized is based 
on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring 
since initial recognition. If the internal risk management and control 
systems do not indicate a significant increase in credit risk any earlier, 
the rebuttable presumption is that a significant increase in credit risk 
has occurred when payments are more than 30 days overdue. The Com-
pany considers the probability of defaults and continually monitors the 
development of the credit risk in each reporting period, considering all 
reasonable and supportable information and forecasts. This includes 
especially historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are 
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment 
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the 
reporting date. 

Receivables are credit-impaired when one or more events have oc-
curred that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 
flow (stage 3). Such events comprise situations of delayed payment 
over a certain period, the institution of enforcement measures, the 
threat of insolvency or overindebtedness, the application bankruptcy 
proceedings, or the failure of reorganization measures.

A default of a financial asset is assumed, if bankruptcy proceedings 
have been opened or if there is a high probability that no reasonable 
expectation of repayment exists. In case of default, the financial assets 
are derecognized. When derecognizing financial assets, the Company 
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continues to undertake enforcement measures to attempt to collect the 
receivables due.

The simplified approach is not applicable at the Company.

Derivative Financial Instruments
Derivative financial instruments are used for hedging purposes in order 
to reduce the currency and interest rate risks from operating activities 
and related financing requirements as well as to support the overall 
value at risk approach applied by BMW AG. 

All derivative financial instruments (such as interest, currency, and com-
bined interest / currency swaps as well as forward currency contracts 
and options) are measured initially and subsequently at their fair value 
in the statement of comprehensive income in the financial result (FVPL). 
They are generally recognized at the trade date.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments are measured using 
market information prevailing at the end of the reporting period and 
recognized valuation techniques. They correspond to the prices that 
would be received for the sale of an asset or paid for the transfer of a 
liability between market participants in an arm’s length transactions. 

Additional information is discussed in ↗ note 5.

Application of Hedge Accounting
Hedge accounting is applied if all requirements according to IFRS 9 are 
met. On the date the derivative contract is entered, the Company des-
ignates the derivative as a hedging instrument. The hedging instrument 
used, and the hedged items are affected by the same risk. In each hedg-
ing relationship for which hedge accounting is used, the designated 
amount of the hedged item corresponds to the volume of the hedging 
instrument. The resulting economic relationship between the hedging 
instrument and hedged item is not dominated by the effect of the cred-
it risk. The Company formally documents details of the respective eco-
nomic relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, 
including its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking 

various hedge transactions, together with the method that will be used 
to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. 

The Company especially enters into interest rate derivative agreements 
as part of its overall interest rate risk management program and applies 
fair value hedge accounting. These transactions are entered as hedges 
against the effects of future interest rate fluctuations on term debt is-
sued by the Company or financial receivables and liabilities due to BMW 
Group companies. The cumulative gain or loss from measuring the de-
rivative hedging instrument at fair value is recognized in profit or loss. 
The cumulative gain or loss of the hedged item attributable to the 
hedged risk is recognized as basis adjustment in the profit or loss im-
mediately. Accordingly, the change in fair values attributable to the 
hedged risk of both, the derivative and the underlying hedged item, are 
offset in the financial result, so long as a highly effective relationship is 
maintained between the derivative instruments and the corresponding 
position being hedged. The Company has exercised the option of des-
ignating cross-currency basis spreads as cost of hedging rather than 
as part of the hedging relationship and presenting them separately in 
equity (Cost of Hedging). 

The Company discontinues hedge accounting when it is determined 
that the hedge relationship ceases to meet the qualifying criteria, in-
cluding instances when the derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or 
exercised, the forecasted transaction is no longer highly probable, or 
management changes its risk management objective.

Where hedge accounting is applied, changes in fair value are presented 
as part of other financial result in the income statement or within other 
comprehensive income as a component of accumulated other equity 
(Cost of Hedging).

Additional information regarding the Company’s objectives and strate-
gies regarding the management of foreign currency and interest rate 
risk, including the use of derivative instruments, is discussed in notes 
↗ 3(f) and ↗ 7(c).
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(g) Recognition of Interest Income and Expenses
Interest income or expense is recognized using the effective interest 
method. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective inter-
est rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the 
asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortized cost of the financial 
liability. However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired 
subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by ap-
plying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the credit im-
paired financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the 
calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

(h) Income Taxes
The Company is a limited liability company, and as such, is not a taxable 
entity and does not have a separate tax obligation. BMW (US) Holding 
Corp. has an internal tax sharing arrangement whereby the Company 
settles its separate company tax receivables or liabilities annually with 
BMW (US) Holding Corp. As a single member limited liability company, 
the Company is treated as a division of BMW (US) Holding Corp., which 
files a consolidated federal, state, and local income tax return.

Income taxes are determined on a separate company basis and allo-
cated to each company based upon the BMW (US) Holding Corp.’s in-
ternal tax sharing arrangement. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based on the differences between the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and tax basis of 
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in 
which the differences are expected to reverse.

(i) Provisions for Pension and Similar Obligations
The Company’s net obligation for defined benefit plans is calculated 
separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting 
that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. The cal-
culation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qual-
ified actuary using the projected unit credit method in accordance with 
IAS 19, Employee Benefits. When the calculation results in the potential 
asset for the company, the recognized asset is limited to the present 

value of economic benefit available in the form of any future refund from 
the plan or reduction in the future contribution to the plan. To calculate 
the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any 
applicable minimum funding requirements. 

Re-measurement of the net pension liability, which comprises actuari-
al gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest), are 
recognized immediately in OCI. The company determines the net inter-
est expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the 
period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined ben-
efit obligation at the beginning annual period to the net defined benefit 
liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined ben-
efit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and 
benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to 
the defined benefit plans are recognized in profit or loss. 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or a plan is curtailed, the re-
sulting change in benefit that relates to the past service or the gain or 
loss on curtailments is recognized in profit or loss. The Company rec-
ognizes the gains and losses on the settlement of the defined benefit 
plan when the settlement occurs. 

3	 Notes on the Items of the Balance Sheet
(a) �Receivables from BMW Group companies, Liabilities to BMW Group  

companies

The Company makes and accepts loans to/from various BMW Group 
companies in the course of normal business operations. Receivables 
from BMW Group companies due within 12 months and the related ac-
crued interest receivable from BMW Group companies are short term 
in nature. The fair value of long-term amounts receivable from BMW 
Group companies is the estimated discounted future cash flows based 
on rates currently available for debt with similar terms and remaining 
maturities. The Company serves as the In-house bank service provider 
for the Americas region and is the cash pool leader for USD, CAD and 
MXN currencies. The Company receives deposits from and/or lends 
funds to participating entities of the BMW Group. Balances from par-
ticipating entities are not subject to offsetting.
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In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company has adjusted the carrying 
value of receivables subject to fair value hedges by the change in fair 
value to the risk being hedged as of December 31, 2021 and December 
31, 2020. At December 31, 2021, the resulting adjustment decreased the 
related value of the underlying receivable by $33,252k. At December 
31, 2020, the resulting adjustment increased the related value of the 
underlying receivable by $234,388k. Concurrently with this adjustment, 
the derivative instruments classified as fair value hedges were carried 
at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in profit of loss.

Receivables from BMW Group companies at December 31, 2021 and 
2020, along with the range of interest rates charged on such loans are 
as follows:

Long-term Short-term

in thousands of dollars 2021 2020 2021 2020

 13,505,220 16,337,361 20,386,612 16,636,810

 
0.64%–

1.96%
0.66%–

3.40%
0.5%–
1.70%

0.08%–
1.78%

Maturities of receivables from BMW Group companies are as follows at 
December 31, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020

in thousands of dollars
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Maturity:     

Due within one year 20,386,612 20,533,814 16,636,810 16,796,336

Due between one  
and five years 13,505,220 13,633,216 16,337,361 16,762,999

Total 33,891,832 34,167,030 32,974,171 33,559,335

Liabilities due to BMW Group Companies at December 31, 2021 and 
2020, along with the range of annual interest rates on such loans, are 
as follows:

Long-term Short-term

in thousands of dollars 2021 2020 2021 2020

 540,000 1,240,000 12,783,286 10,951,277

 
0.15%–

0.78%
0.10%–

0.78%
0.02%–

0.21%
0.05%–

0.79%

Maturities of liabilities due to BMW Group companies are as follows at 
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020:

2021 2020

in thousands of dollars
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Maturity:     

Due within one year 12,783,286 12,778,534 10,951,277 10,950,838

Due between one  
and five years 540,000 538,105 1,240,000 1,237,605

Total 13,323,286 13,316,639 12,191,277 12,188,443

(b) Other Liabilities
Other liabilities include mainly trade payables and period end accruals.
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(c) Pension and Similar Obligations
The Company participates in the Pension, Post-Retirement Medical, and 
Life Insurance Plans of BMW (US) Holding Corp. and its affiliates. The 
Post-Retirement Medical and Life Insurance Plans are group plans for 
retired employees with the appropriate age and years of service. Com-
ponents of the plan include an annual deductible, employee coinsur-
ance, out of pocket limit, no lifetime maximum benefit, and prescription 
drug coverage. The Pension Plan and Post-Retirement Medical Plan are 
defined benefit plans.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated using the projected unit 
credit method. The actuarial computation requires the use of estimates 
and assumption, including discount rate and mortality. Actuarial gains 
and losses arising from defined benefit plans are recorded directly in 
other comprehensive income. Interest expense on the net defined ben-
efit liability is presented within net interest margin on the Statements 
of Comprehensive Income / (loss). All other components of pension ex-
pense are presented in the comprehensive income / (loss) statements 
under general and administrative expenses.

The Plan was closed to new participants on March 1, 2012. Employees 
hired after March 1, 2012, are not eligible for the Plan. Eligibility for un-
reduced retirement benefits begins at age 60, provided that the partic-
ipant has at least five-years of service. Reduced retirement benefits can 
commence prior to age 60 with a least 5 years of service. An early re-
tirement subsidy is provided at retirement after age 55 with at least 10 
years of service.

As of June 30, 2019, the Company has frozen the pension plan. The 
Post-Retirement Medical and Life Insurance plans were not affected by 
the pension plan decision. The defined benefit to employees will be 
based on amounts contributed by the Company up to this date. 

(d) Commercial Paper
The Company maintains a BMW AG guaranteed U.S. commercial paper 
program of $7 billion. At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, 
commercial paper outstanding totaled $1,219,937k and $0k, respec-
tively. The weighted average interest rate on the commercial paper was 
0.11% and 0.00%, at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, re-
spectively. All commercial paper mature within 180 days.

Commercial paper is an unsecured and discounted promissory note 
issued to finance the short term credit needs of institutions. Although 
commercial paper is occasionally issued as an interest bearing note, it 
typically trades at a discount to its par value. In other words, the pur-
chaser usually purchases commercial paper below par and then receives 
its face value at maturity. The discount, or the difference between the 
purchase price and the face value of the note, is amortized over the term 
of the commercial paper as interest expense by applying the effective 
interest rate method. At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, 
the commercial paper unamortized discount was $63k and $0k, re-
spectively.

At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the fair value of the 
Company’s commercial paper obligations approximated the recorded 
value primarily due to the short-term nature of the outstanding com-
mercial paper. 
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(e) Term Debt and Line of Credit
Term debt consists of the following at December 31, 2021 and December 
31, 2020:

2021 2020

in thousands of dollars Carrying amounts Carrying amounts

Foreign and U.S. dollar denominated variable 
rate notes interest range from 0.12%–0.58% 
at December 31, 2021 and 1.89%–2.04% at 
December 31, 2020. 2,135,471 2,157,135

Foreign and U.S. dollar denominated fixed 
rate notes interest range from 0.63%–6.19% 
at December 31, 2021 and 0.63%–6.19% at 
December 31, 2020. 17,422,059 20,241,308

Total 19,557,530 22,398,443

The carrying amounts of term debt due in the following five fiscal years, 
and thereafter, are as follows as of December 31, 2021 and December 
31, 2020:

2021 2020

in thousands of dollars Carrying amounts Carrying amounts

Maturity:   

Due within one year 3,336,005 6,801,010

Due between one and five years 11,047,131 9,691,756

Due later than five years 5,174,394 5,905,677

Total 19,557,530 22,398,443

The movements in term debt are as follows for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2021 and 2020:

in thousands of dollars  

Balance as of December 31, 2020 22,398,443

Issues 4,495,485

Repayments (6,525,907)

Accrued interest payable (17,623)

Change in fees amortized by the effective interest method (7,206)

Fair value change due to hedge accounting (785,662)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 19,557,530

in thousands of dollars  

Balance as of December 31, 2019 20,570,735

Issues 3,988,105

Repayments (2,899,391)

Accrued interest payable 8,427

Change in fees amortized by the effective interest method 12,604

Fair value change due to hedge accounting 717,963

Balance as of December 31, 2020 22,398,443

Term Debt by category:

in thousands of dollars 2021 2020

Debt part of a fair value hedge relationship 17,254,136 20,055,788

Debt at amortized cost 2,303,394 2,342,655

Total 19,557,530 22,398,443
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In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company has adjusted the carrying 
value of term debt subject to fair value hedges by the change in fair 
value to the risk being hedged as of December 31, 2021 and December 
31, 2020. At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the resulting 
adjustment increased the related value of the underlying debt by 
$232,943k and $796,554k respectively. Concurrently with this adjust-
ment, the derivative instruments classified as fair value hedges were 
carried at fair value with changes in fair value recorded through earn-
ings.

At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, $19,557,530k and 
$22,398,443k respectively, of the unsecured debt is guaranteed by 
BMW AG. The Company has access to a syndicated revolving credit 
facility of eight billion Euros, maturing in July 2024. The credit facility 
was negotiated in July 2017 with a maturity of July 2024 and is being 
provided by a consortium of 44 international banks. As of December 31, 
2021 there were no borrowings under the credit facility outstanding.

Bond discount and private placement fees incurred related to the issu-
ance of term debt are taken into account when initially recording the 
term debt and are recognized in the statements of comprehensive in-
come / (loss) as interest expense under the effective interest rate meth-
od over the remaining lives of the debt. Bond discount is the difference 
between the face value and the proceeds received when the term debt 
is issued below face value. Private placement fees relate to legal and 
administrative fees associated with the issuance of the term debt.

(f) Derivative Financial Assets and Liabilities
The Company enters into payer interest rate swaps, combined inter-
est / currency swaps and option agreements with both BMW Group 
companies and external parties to manage and hedge its interest rate 
exposure arising from mismatches between the interest earned on 
non-derivative financial assets and the interest paid on non-derivative 
financial liabilities. Floating rates are fixed periodically and, during this 
transition period for the respective benchmark rates, are mostly based 
on USD London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) as published daily by 
the British Bankers’ Association or USD secured overnight financing 

rate (SOFR) as published by The New York Federal Reserve. Depending 
on the respective hedge relationship interest rate swaps and combined 
interest / currency swaps are accounted for as designated hedging in-
struments applying hedge accounting as well as stand-alone financial 
derivatives categorized as FVPL. 

In addition, foreign exchange forward and swap agreements are con-
cluded with affiliates and external parties to hedge foreign exchange 
rate risk. In general, the Company concludes foreign exchange deriva-
tives with external parties and simultaneously enters into reciprocal 
contracts with its affiliates in order to manage currency risk on the lev-
el of the affiliates.

The below table summarizes the Company’s derivative notional 
amounts and corresponding fair values:

2021 2020

in thousands of dollars Notional Fair value Notional Fair value

Derivative assets     

Interest rate derivatives 24,476,170 551,434 22,544,541 1,193,461

Foreign exchange rate 
derivatives 117,217 1,180 217,718 2,407

Total 24,593,387 552,614 22,762,259 1,195,868

2021 2020

in thousands of dollars Notional Fair value Notional Fair value

Derivative liabilities     

Interest rate derivatives 18,500,836 273,904 25,400,835 444,033

Total 18,500,836 273,904 25,400,835 444,033

Additional information is provided in note ↗ 7(c).
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4	 Notes on the Items of the Comprehensive Income Statement
(a) Interest income and expense 
Interest income with BMW Group Companies relates to loans to affili-
ates, derivatives and factoring of short-term BMW AG trade receivables. 
The factored receivable is accounted for at amortized cost. The com-
pany earns a premium which is the difference between the present 
value and face value of the receivable factored and is earned as the 
receivable comes due (terms 30–90 days). Interest expense with BMW 
Group Companies relates to loans with affiliates and derivatives. 

Interest income with third parties relates to derivatives and bank de-
posits. Interest expense with third parties relates to derivatives, interest 
on debt and commercial paper. 

(b) Financial Result
The caption “Financial Result” in the statements of comprehensive in-
come / (loss) includes: the liquidity fee between BMW US Capital and 
BMW AG, the fee remitted to BMW AG to guarantee the unsecured debt, 
and foreign exchange gains and losses on operational transactions, 
stand-alone interest rate derivatives, fair value adjustments of hedged 
items, debt and other financial instruments. Operational transactions 
include routine transactions denominated in foreign currencies.

in thousands of dollars 2021 2020

Liquidity fee 156,064 39,872

Gains on stand-alone interest rate  
derivatives 272,197 6,248

Gains on fair value adjustments from  
applying hedge accounting 693,565 1,014,774

Foreign exchange gains on term debt 188,639 49

Foreign exchange gains on other financial 
instruments 24,324 43,324

Total Gains 1,334,789 1,104,267

Guarantee fee (25,966) (27,360)

Losses on stand-alone interest rate  
derivatives (4,964) (2,453)

Losses on fair value adjustments from  
applying hedge accounting (1,135,374) (800,564)

Foreign exchange losses on term debt – (264,014)

Foreign exchange losses on other financial 
instruments (24,877) (40,238)

Total Losses (1,191,181) (1,134,629)

Total 143,608 (30,362)
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(c) Income taxes
The Company’s federal and state income tax payments are made by 
BMW (US) Holding Corp. as part of a consolidated tax return. Included 
in Payables to BMW Group companies at December 31, 2021 is $16,073k 
of current income tax payable. At December 31, 2020 a current income 
tax receivable of $11,727k is included in Receivables from BMW Group 
companies. The provision for federal, and state income taxes for the 
periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 consists of the following:

in thousands of dollars 2021 2020

Current:   

Federal (12,595) 9,921

State and local (3,478) 1,806

 (16,073) 11,727

Deferred:   

Federal 2,860 7,999

State and local 604 1,881

 3,464 9,880

Total income taxes (12,609) 21,607

The effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
was 25.6 % and 24.3 %, respectively.

The components of deferred taxes for the years ended December 31, 
2021 and 2020 are as follows:

in thousands of dollars 2021 2020

Deferred tax assets:   

Accrued employee bonus 98 79

Pension 41 104

Deferred income 746 360

Credit reserve 813 987

Derivative instruments 8,599 6,828

Accrued payroll taxes 7 15

Total deferred tax assets 10,304 8,373

The following table presents a reconciliation between the reported in-
come taxes and the income taxes which would be computed by apply-
ing the normal federal tax rate to income before taxes:

in thousands of dollars 2021 2020

Net (loss) before provision for income taxes 49,232 (89,024)

Applicable statutory federal income tax rate 21% 21%

Computed federal income tax benefit (10,339) 18,695

State income tax benefit (2,253) 2,849

Others (1) (1)

Effect of tax rate change (16) 64

Total income tax benefit (12,609) 21,607

3	 Management Report

7	 Responsibility Statement

9	 Independent Auditor’s Report

14	 Statements of Financial Position

15	 Statements of Comprehensive Income/(Loss)

16	 Statements of Changes in Member’s Capital

17	 Statements of Cash Flows

18	 Notes to Financial Statements

BMW US Capital, LLC Annual Report 202129



5	 Additional Disclosures to Financial Instruments
The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of the 
Company’s financial instruments at December 31, 2021 and 2020 under 

2021 Category Carrying amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial instruments included on the statement of 
financial position:       

Non-current financial assets:       

Receivable from BMW Group companies AC 13,505,220 13,633,216 – 13,633,216 –

Derivative assets       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 3,597 3,597 – 3,597 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 457,461 457,461 – 457,461 –

Current financial assets:       

Cash AC 95,067 95,067 95,067 – –

Receivable from BMW Group companies AC 20,386,612 20,533,814 – 20,533,814 –

Derivative assets       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 3,605 3,605 – 3,605 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 87,950 87,950 – 87,950 –

Non-current financial liabilities:       

Term debt AC 16,221,525 17,198,711 – 17,198,711 –

Liabilities due to BMW Group companies AC 540,000 538,105 – 538,105 –

Derivative liabilities       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 7,114 7,114 – 7,114 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 164,083 164,083 – 164,083 –

Current financial liabilities:       

Term debt AC 3,336,005 3,334,807 – 3,334,807 –

Commercial paper AC 1,219,937 1,219,937 – 1,219,937 –

Liabilities due to BMW Group companies AC 12,783,286 12,778,534 – 12,778,534 –

Derivative liabilities       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 2,805 2,805 – 2,805 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 99,901 99,901 – 99,901 –

consideration of the respective measurement categories according to 
IFRS 9:
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2020 Category Carrying amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial instruments included on the statement of 
financial position:       

Non-current financial assets:       

Receivable from BMW Group companies AC 16,337,361 16,762,999 – 16,762,999 –

Derivative assets       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 4,169 4,169 – 4,169 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 983,402 983,402 – 983,402 –

Current financial assets:       

Cash AC 993,754 993,754 993,754 – –

Receivable from BMW Group companies AC 16,636,810 16,796,336 – 16,796,336 –

Derivative assets       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 48,919 48,919 – 48,919 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 159,378 159,378 – 159,378 –

Non-current financial liabilities:       

Term debt AC 15,597,433 16,587,786 – 16,587,786 –

Liabilities due to BMW Group companies AC 1,240,000 1,237,605 – 1,237,605 –

Derivative liabilities       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 33,563 33,563 – 33,563 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 235,685 235,685 – 235,685 –

Current financial liabilities:       

Term debt AC 6,801,010 6,803,384 – 6,803,384 –

Commercial paper AC – – – – –

Liabilities due to BMW Group companies AC 10,951,277 10,950,838 – 10,950,838 –

Derivative liabilities       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 20,494 20,494 – 20,494 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 154,291 154,291 – 154,291 –
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The Company measures the fair value of the financial instruments based 
on the fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 
used in making the measurement:

Level 1:	� Level 1 inputs are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilites that the Company can 
access at the measurement date.

Level 2:	� Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly. The fair value of financial instruments in 
Level 2 are based on valuation techniques using observable 
inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived 
from prices) at the measurement date. 

Level 3:	� Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
The fair value of financial instruments in Level 3 are based on 
valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs.

The Company generally uses the discounted cash flow model as the 
valuation technique to determine the fair value of financial instruments 
at the measurement date. The objective of the valuation technique is to 
arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly trans-
action between market participants at the measurement date. Essential 
observable inputs used in this valuation technique include risk free (i.e. 
Fed Rates) and benchmark interest rates (i.e. LIBOR, USD SOFR Rates), 
credit spreads and foreign currency exchange rates.

Derivatives are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy using the 
discounted cash flow model to determine the fair value using yield 
curves of the cash flow currency and relevant credit spreads. 

For non-current non-derivative financial assets and liabilities (such as 
receivables / liabilities from BMW Group companies and term debt) the 
fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is measured by 
discounting the future principal and interest cash flows using a market 
rate of interest for similar risk and matching maturity as well as relevant 

credit spreads at the reporting date. Therefore these fair values are 
allocated as Level 2.

For reasons of materiality, the fair value of current non-derivative finan-
cial assets and liabilities is generally deemed to be approximated by 
the carrying amount.

For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the fair value of 
the financial instruments has been measured by using either Level 1 or 
Level 2 inputs.

The transfers between the level of the fair value hierarchy are reported 
at the respective reporting dates. There have been no transfers between 
the levels during the reporting period.

The following table shows net gains and losses by category:

Recognized in  
profit or (loss) from interest

Recognized in profit or (loss) 
from subsequent  

measurement at fair value

in thousands of dollars 2021 2020 2021 2020

Financial instruments  
measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 49,276 (40,000) (8,843) (42,546)

Financial assets  
measured at amortized cost 407,320 637,646 – –

Financial liabilities  
measured at amortized cost (553,479) (656,746) – –

Net gains and losses from financial instuments at fair value through 
profit or loss are composed of derivative financial instruments not in-
cluded in a hedging relationship.

Total interest income arising on financial assets measured at amortised 
cost mainly relates to the interest income earned on receivables from 

3	 Management Report

7	 Responsibility Statement

9	 Independent Auditor’s Report

14	 Statements of Financial Position

15	 Statements of Comprehensive Income/(Loss)

16	 Statements of Changes in Member’s Capital

17	 Statements of Cash Flows

18	 Notes to Financial Statements

BMW US Capital, LLC Annual Report 202132



group companies and is reported within interest income on the state-
ment of comprehensive income. 

Total interest expense for financial liabilities measured at amortised 
cost mainly relates to the interest expense on term debt and liabilities 
to group companies and is reported within interest expense on the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

The below table represents the offsetting of financial instruments, which 
have the following impact on the carrying amounts of derivatives:

2021 2020

in thousands of dollars

Reported on 
assets  

side

Reported on 
liabilities 

side

Reported on  
assets  

side

Reported on 
liabilities 

side

Balance sheet  
amounts as reported 552,613 273,903 1,195,868 444,033

Gross amount of derivatives 
which can be offset in case 
of insolvency (194,058) (194,058) (253,708) (253,708)

Net amount after offsetting 358,555 79,845 942,160 190,325

6	 Related Parties
In accordance with IAS 24 (Related Party Disclosures), related individ-
uals or entities, which have the ability to control the Company or which 
are controlled by the Company, must be disclosed unless such parties 
are already included in the financial statements as affiliated companies. 
Control is defined as ownership of more than one half of the voting pow-
er of the Company or the power to direct, by statute or agreement, the 
financial and operating policies of the management of the Company.

The disclosure requirements of IAS 24 also cover transactions with as-
sociates, joint ventures, and individuals that have the ability to exercise 
significant influence over the financial and operating policies of the 
Company. 

In addition, the requirements contained in IAS 24 relating to key man-
agement personnel and close members of their families or intermediary 
entities are also applied.

BMW AG guarantees the unsecured debt of the Company, for this the 
Company remits a fee to BMW AG. The guarantee fee of 12.5bps is defined 
based upon a transfer pricing policy and arm’s length principle defined by 
BMW AG and it is remitted from the Company to BMW AG on a monthly 
basis. For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 the amount 
paid for this guarantee was $25,996k and $27,360k respectively. 

The Company provides a factoring service of short-term inter-group 
BMW AG trade receivables. For this service the Company earns a com-
mission equal to 0.05% of the receivables. The Company also earns 
interest which is equal to the designed benchmark rate for maturities 
between 30 and 90 days plus a defined margin. The defined margin is 
set by the Company monthly and is communicated to seller at the be-
ginning of each month. 

The company earns interest on loans granted to affiliates and pays 
interest on loans received from affiliates. The interest rate is defined 
according to the BMW Group pricing policies and based upon the Arm’s 
length principle plus a defined margin which is derived from BMW Group 
borrowing costs and service fees. For the periods ended December 31, 
2021 and 2020 the Company received interest in the amounts of 
$447,403k, and $712,442k. For the same periods, the Company paid 
interest in the amounts of $14,014k, and $84,411k respectively. 

For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the 
disclosure requirements of IAS 24 only affect the Company with regard 
to relationships with the Parent, affiliated entities, and members of man-
agement and officers.
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The related party balances for the years periods ended December 31, 
2021 and December 31, 2020 were as follows:

in thousands of dollars 2021 2020

Receivable from BMW AG 175,252 39,872

All other receivables from  
BMW Group companies 33,716,580 32,934,299

Total 33,891,832 32,974,171

Liabilities due to BMW AG – 61,800

All other liabilities due to  
BMW Group companies 13,323,286 12,129,477

Total 13,323,286 12,191,277

The Company did not enter into any contracts with any member of man-
agement or officers. The same applies to close members of the families 
of those persons. For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
the remuneration of key management is $1,502k and $1,103k respec-
tively. The remuneration consists of:

in thousands of dollars 2021 2020

Short-term employee benefits 1,441 1,066

Post-employment benefits 61 37

Total 1,502 1,103

7	 Risk Management
The exposure of the Company can be broken down into two main cat-
egories: financial and nonfinancial risks.

(i) Financial Risks
The formal procedures and policies operated by the Company to cover 
bank, credit, interest rate, foreign exchange, and other treasury matters 
are consistent with objectives and policies for the financial risk man-
agement within BMW AG. The Company’s policy is not to take positions 
in derivative financial instruments with the aim of profit realization. On 
a daily basis, the Company measures the risk of outstanding positions, 
which are managed within the established limits in compliance with the 
BMW AG policies. Financial risks arise mainly from credit, liquidity and 
market risks including currency and interest rate risks. 

(a) Credit Risk
The Company is exposed to credit risk because of its group external 
business operation and financing activities within the BMW Group. Cred-
it risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if any counterparty fails 
to meet its contractual obligations associated with a financial instrument. 
This risk is partly mitigated by entering into financial instruments only 
with parties, which have the investment grade credit standing. Further, 
the Company participates in a comprehensive limit system that assess-
es and limits the credit exposure to any single external counterparty on 
an ongoing basis. The Company continually monitors its position to en-
sure that it stays within the credit exposure limits set by BMW AG. 

The maximum credit risk is reflected by the carrying amount of the fi-
nancial assets recognized in the balance sheet. Expected Credit Loss-
es (ECL) according to IFRS 9 are determined using the general approach 
for receivables from BMW Group companies based on historical credit 
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors as 
well as general economic conditions. Due to the structure of the debtors 
encompassing mostly BMW Group companies the credit risk is deemed 
to be low. Therefore, the company does not hold any material collater-
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als or other credit enhancements. Other than the credit risk exposure 
resulting from the BMW Group companies, there are no material con-
centrations of credit risk in the Company. The amounts in the below 
table have an S&P credit rating of A. 

The Company recognized the following loss allowance for receivables 
from BMW Group companies as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, re-
spectively:

2021
Stage 1 

12 month ECL
Stage 2 

Lifetime ECL

Stage 3 
Lifetime ECL  

(credit-impaired)

Cash and cash  
equivalents 95,067   

Receivables from  
BMW Group companies    

Gross carrying 
amounts 33,895,154 – –

Recognized loss 
allowances (3,322) – –

Total 33,986,899 – –

2020
Stage 1 

12 month ECL
Stage 2 

Lifetime ECL

Stage 3 
Lifetime ECL  

(credit-impaired)

Cash and cash  
equivalents 993,754   

Receivables from  
BMW Group companies    

Gross carrying 
amounts 32,977,417 – –

Recognized loss 
allowances (3,246) – –

Total 33,967,925 – –

Considering the stable portfolio of the receivables from BMW Group 
companies and the mostly unchanged circumstances regarding the 
inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques for calculating the ex-
pected credit losses, no material changes in the recognized loss allow-
ance were determined as of December 31, 2021. Due to the change in 
balances of the Group receivables the expected credit loss increased 
year-over-year by $75k to $(3,322)k. 

(b) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in 
meeting its financial obligations as they come due. With its access to 
the BMW AG Euro Medium Term Note Program, as well as its commer-
cial paper program and short term deposits, the Company has ample 
resources to mitigate this risk. The Company believes it has a compre-
hensive funding strategy that incorporates a diverse set of funding op-
tions.
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The following table shows how the undiscounted cash flows relating to 
financial liabilities and derivatives affect the Company’s liquidity position 
as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively:

Future cash flows  
at December 31, 2021 
 
in thousands of dollars

Maturity 
within  

one year 

Maturity 
between 

one and five 
years

Maturity 
later than 
five years Total

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities     

Term debt 3,198,800 11,005,000 5,037,900 19,241,700

Interest payments  
on term debt 475,486 1,157,698 420,689 2,053,873

Commercial paper 1,220,000 – – 1,220,000

Loans due to  
BMW Group companies 12,783,286 540,000 – 13,323,286

Loans-external 124,339 – – 124,339

Total 17,801,911 12,702,698 5,458,589 35,963,198

Derivative  
financial liabilities     

With gross settlement 2,409 5,314 – 7,723

Cash outflows 48,467 120,581 – 169,048

Cash inflows 46,058 115,267 – 161,325

With net settlement 99,107 123,075 49,523 271,705

Cash outflows 99,107 123,075 49,523 271,705

Total 101,516 128,389 49,523 279,428

Future cash flows  
at December 31, 2020 
 
in thousands of dollars

Maturity 
within  

one year 

Maturity 
between 

one and five 
years

Maturity 
later than 
five years Total

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities     

Term debt 6,634,302 9,454,100 5,423,050 21,511,452

Interest payments  
on term debt 532,154 1,251,193 474,738 2,258,085

Commercial paper – – – –

Loans due to  
BMW Group companies 10,958,642 1,242,081 – 12,200,723

Loans-external 90,459 – – 90,459

Total 18,215,557 11,947,374 5,897,788 36,060,719

Derivative  
financial liabilities     

With gross settlement (342) 8,111 – 7,769

Cash outflows 84,677 285,542 – 370,219

Cash inflows 85,019 277,431 – 362,450

With net settlement 283,030 126,770 34,260 444,060

Cash outflows 283,030 126,770 34,260 444,060

Total 282,688 134,881 34,260 451,829

Cash outflows from derivatives concluded as part of hedging relation-
ships are also taken into account.

(c) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk from changes in market prices, such as foreign 
exchange rates, interest rates, and credit spreads, which will affect the 
Company’s income or the value of its holdings of the financial instru-
ments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposure within acceptable limits.
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Increases in credit spreads could arise from changes in demand for term 
debt instruments in capital markets, the removal of the unconditional 
and irrevocable guarantees of BMW AG for the debt issuance programs 
in which the Company participates, a weakening credit profile of the 
BMW Group, and a decreasing willingness of banks to provide credit 
lines and loans. This risk is managed centrally within the BMW Group 
with a wide range of organizational components to identify and mitigate 
such events.

Currency Risk
Currency risk refers to the potential changes of value or cash flows in 
financial assets and liabilities including derivatives in response to fluc-
tuations in exchange rates. The Company manages this risk for its af-
filiates by entering into forward, swap and option contracts denominat-
ed in foreign currencies with third parties, which are used to hedge 
certain operating cycle commitments in accordance with the cash flow 
exposure strategy managed by BMW AG. Simultaneously, the Compa-
ny enters into reciprocal contracts with affiliates. Therefore, no materi-
al net gain or loss is realized by the Company. In addition, the Compa-
ny utilizes foreign exchange rate derivatives to hedge foreign exchange 
rate exposures arising from foreign currency loans. 

At December 31, 2021 and, 2020, the Company had foreign currency 
forward and swap contracts with external parties to buy and / or sell 
foreign currencies with notional amounts totaling approximately 
$117,217k and $217,718k, respectively. The fair value of these contracts 
at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 was $1,180k and $2,407k, 
respectively. The currency exposure at December 31, 2021 and, 2020 is 
detailed below. Hedge Accounting is not applied to account for these 
economic hedge relationships at December 31, 2021 and, 2020.

2021 
in thousands  
(all currencies)

Non-derivative 
financial assets

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities

Derivative financial 
instruments

CAD 305,630 (255,478) (50,000)

MXN 25,293 (29,355) –

EUR – (1,501,945) 1,500,000

2020 
in thousands  
(all currencies)

Non-derivative 
financial assets

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities

Derivative financial 
instruments

AUD – (30,000) 30,000

CAD 200,000 (369,498) (200,000)

MXN 492 (27,477) –

EUR – (2,500,000) 2,500,000
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The sensitivity of the Company’s results to changes in foreign currencies 
against the functional currency shows:

2021 
Currency

Effects on result of a 10% 
rise in the USD against the 

respective currency  
(in thousands dollars)

Effects on result of a 10% 
decrease in the USD against 

the respective currency  
(in thousands dollars)

CAD (11) 13

MXN 18 (22)

EUR 201 (246)

2020 
Currency

Effects on result of a 10% 
rise in the USD against the 

respective currency  
(in thousands dollars)

Effects on result of a 10% 
decrease in the USD against 

the respective currency  
(in thousands dollars)

AUD – –

CAD 26,387 (32,251)

MXN 124 (151)

EUR – –

The sensitivity analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
interest rates, remain the same. A concentration of currency risk has 
not been identified.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk refers to potential changes of value in non-derivative 
financial assets and liabilities including derivatives in response to fluc-
tuations in interest rates. The Company holds a substantial volume of 
interest rate sensitive non-derivative financial assets and liabilities for 
operational and financial activities. Changes in interest rates can have 
adverse effects on the financial position and operating result of the 
Company. In order to mitigate the impact of interest rate risk, the Com-
pany aims in general to change interest rates from fixed to floating. 
Furthermore, interest rate risk is managed through economic hedges, 

using derivative financial instruments. To manage the maturity gaps, 
appropriate interest rate derivatives are used.

As a result of the ongoing reform and replacement of specific benchmark 
interest rates, uncertainty remains regarding the timing and exact nature 
of those changes. Overall, a considerable number of contracts within the 
Company are directly affected by the reform of benchmark interest rates. 
Hedging relationships within the Company are based primarily on USD 
LIBOR reference interest rates, whereby those rates are designated as 
the hedged risk in fair value hedges. In the case of these hedging rela-
tionships, uncertainty arises with respect to the identifiability of the des-
ignated benchmark interest rates. For instruments maturing after the 
cessation of USD LIBOR, the notional amount of financial derivatives 
not yet converted to an alternative interest rate at December 31, 2021, is 
$2,653,434k. The notional amount of non-derivative financial liabilities 
not yet converted to an alternative interest rate is $50,000k. 

The transition to the newly created or revised benchmark interest rates 
is being managed, monitored and assessed with regard to risk man-
agement implications as part of a multidisciplinary project, the scope 
of which is likely to cover changes to systems, processes, risk and val-
uation models, as well as dealing with the related impact at an account-
ing and financial reporting level. The uncertainty triggered by the inter-
est rate benchmark reform is expected to be eliminated during the 
financial year 2022.

All interest rate derivative instruments not formally designated as hedg-
ing instruments in hedging relationships are recorded at fair value with 
the changes in fair value recognized in the financial result on the state-
ments of comprehensive income or loss. The fair value of these interest 
rate derivative positions are reflected as of December 31, 2021 and, 2020 
in interest rate derivative assets in the amount of $6,022k and $50,681, 
respectively, and interest rate derivative liabilities in the amount of 
$9,919k and $54,057k, respectively. The realized and unrealized gain 
on stand-alone interest rate derivatives was $267,233k in 2021 and loss 
of $3,795k in 2020. 
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For those hedging relationships for which fair value hedge accounting 
is applied according to IFRS 9, the fixed rate debt designated as hedged 
item are accounted for as an amount equal to the amortized cost and 
an amount representing the change in fair value of the interest rate risk 
being hedged (basis adjustment). Changes in the fair value of interest 
rate swap contracts and the offsetting changes in the adjusted carrying 
value of the related portion of the fixed rate debt being hedged are 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income or loss. The in-
effective portion of a fair value hedge is recognized immediately in prof-
it or loss.

The nominal amounts of hedging instruments at December 31, 2021 
and 2020 were as follows:

2021 
in thousands of dollars

Maturity within  
one year

Maturity between 
one and five years

Maturity later than 
five years

Nominal amounts of 
hedging instruments    

Interest rate swaps 11,035,000 21,805,000 4,470,000

Combined interest /   
currency swaps 1,135,800 – 567,900

2020 
in thousands of dollars

Maturity within 
one year

Maturity between 
one and five years

Maturity later than 
five years

Nominal amounts of 
hedging instruments    

Interest rate swaps 11,205,000 22,125,000 4,810,000

Combined interest /   
currency swaps 1,249,302 1,226,100 613,050

The following table provides information on the nominal amounts, car-
rying amounts and fair value changes of derivative financial instruments 
designated as hedging instruments:

Carrying amounts / Fair values

2021 
in thousands of dollars

Nominal 
amounts

Derivative 
assets

Derivative 
liabilities

Change in 
fair value of 
designated 

components 
in reporting 

period for 
determining 
ineffective-

ness

Fair value hedges     

Interest rate risks 37,310,000 434,481 263,984 (277,719)

Combined interest rate /   
currency risk 1,703,700 110,930 – (38,814)

Carrying amounts / Fair values

2020 
in thousands of dollars

Nominal 
amounts

Derivative 
assets

Derivative 
liabilities

Change in 
fair value of 
designated 

components 
in reporting 

period for 
determining 
ineffective-

ness

Fair value hedges     

Interest rate risks 38,140,000 741,414 389,976 255,822

Combined interest rate /   
currency risk 3,088,452 401,366 – 6,406
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The following table summarizes key information on hedged items for 
each risk category:

2021 
in thousands of dollars

Carrying amount of hedged 
items (incl. cumulative fair 

value hedge adjustment)

Balance of cumulative  
adjustments to the carrying 

amount of the designated  
fair value hedges

Change in the fair value of the 
hedged items for determining 

ineffectiveness in the  
reporting period

Change in the FV of the 
hedged item for determining 

hedge ineffectiveness, where 
hedging relationships termi-
nated in the reporting period

Fair value hedges     

Receivables from BMW Group companies 21,916,748 (33,252) (211,539) (56,101)

Term debt (15,543,600) (221,512) 491,849 24,798

Combined interest rate / currency risk     

Term debt (1,710,536) (11,430) 37,859 9,105

Total 4,662,612 (266,194) 318,169 (22,198)

2020 
in thousands of dollars

Carrying amount of hedged 
items (incl. cumulative fair 

value hedge adjustment)

Balance of cumulative  
adjustments to the carrying 

amount of the designated  
fair value hedges

Change in the fair value of the 
hedged items for determining 

ineffectiveness in the  
reporting period

Change in the FV of the 
hedged item for determining 

hedge ineffectiveness, where 
hedging relationships termi-
nated in the reporting period

Fair value hedges     

Receivables from BMW Group companies 22,159,388 234,388 163,798 –

Term debt (16,916,987) (738,160) (451,339) 2,871

Combined interest rate / currency risk     

Term debt (3,138,801) (58,394) (7,404) –

Total 2,103,600 (562,166) (294,945) 2,871

The recorded ineffectiveness in the financial result in the income state-
ment amounts to $1,636k in the reporting year and $(32,717k) in the 
prior year and mainly results from currency basis adjustments and late 
designations of interest rate swaps.
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The cost of hedging reserve, showing the not designated components, 
has developed as follows:

2021 2020

in thousands of dollars Cost of hedging Cost of hedging

Balance at January 1 8,142 12,942

Reclassification to profit or loss (5,932) (6,436)

Deferred taxes 1,461 1,636

Balance at December 31 3,671 8,142

The fair value of the Company’s interest rate portfolio, which represents 
the net present value of all future, fixed cash flows, including loans, 
deposits, and derivative financial instruments, was $(494,150k) as of 
December 31, 2021 and $(388,742k) as of December 31, 2020. A one 
basis point movement in interest rates would have increased or de-
creased this valuation at December 31, 2021 by $1k and by $120k at 
December 31, 2020.

The Company assesses its interest rate exposure by using a value at 
risk analysis. This is based on a historical simulation, in which the po-
tential future fair value losses of the interest rate portfolio are compared 
with expected amounts on the basis of a holding period of 250 days 
and a confidence level of 99.98%. For year ended December 31, 2021 
and 2020, the potential volume of fair value fluctuations measured on 
the basis of the value at risk approach was $48,236k and $40,981k, 
respectively.

(ii) Nonfinancial Risks
Nonfinancial risks could arise from the Company’s operations. Opera-
tional risks mainly result from the use of computer systems and infor-
mation technology. The Company uses computer systems to monitor 
financial positions and daily cash flows and process payments to inter-
nal and external counterparties. System failures can result in delays in 

payment processing. Further operational risk can arise from the settle-
ment of financial transactions. The management of daily cash flows at 
the Company depends on the timely receipt of funds from external in-
stitutions who act as counterparties of financial transactions, such as 
bonds, swaps, or other derivative financial instruments. To mitigate 
negative impacts of system failures, all key systems are set up in par-
allel and/or have backup facilities.

(a) Capital Management
The Company’s objectives, when managing capital at an individual 
company level, are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits 
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Company may issue new shares or adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders. The Company has no prescribed divi-
dend policy. 

The Company’s equity, as disclosed on the face of the statement of 
financial position, constitutes its capital. The Company maintains its 
level of capital by reference to its financial obligations and commitments 
arising from operations requirements. In view of the extent of the Com-
pany’s borrowings or debt, the capital level as at the end of the report-
ing period is deemed adequate by the board of management of the 
Company.

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital manage-
ment during the first half of the year. The Company is not subject to 
externally imposed capital requirements.

(b) Concentration of Risk
No concentration of risk was identified that would be relevant to finan-
cial statement readers.
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8	 Cash Flow
The statements of cash flows show how the cash and cash equivalents 
of the Company have changed during the year as a result of cash inflows 
and cash outflows. In accordance with IAS 7, cash flows are classified 
into cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities. The 
Company’s purpose is to assist the financing of the activities conduct-
ed by companies of the BMW Group. The cash flows from operating 
activities are presented under the indirect method (profit or loss for the 

in thousands of dollars 2020 Cash flows Accrued interest Foreign exchange 
Fair value  

adjustments Fee amortization 2021

Term debt 22,398,443 (2,030,422) (17,623) (188,639) (597,023) (7,206) 19,557,530

Commercial paper – 1,219,917 20 – – – 1,219,937

 22,398,443 (810,505) (17,603) (188,639) (597,023) (7,206) 20,777,467

9	 Segment Information
According to the definition of an operating segment under IFRS 8 and 
as presented in Note (1) Nature of Operations, BMW US Capital, LLC 
has one segment, and figures included in the statements of compre-
hensive income / (loss) represent the nature and financial effects of the 
business activities.

10	 Additional Disclosures
During 2021, no events have occurred, that could be considered unusu-
al due to their nature, size or incidence, that have not been disclosed 
in previous notes and that could have a major impact on the earnings 
performance, financial position and net assets of the Company. There 
have been no changes in the composition of the Company during 2021. 
The Company did not become an investment entity under the definition 
of IFRS 10.

period reconciled to the total net cash flow from operating activities). 
Under this method, changes in assets and liabilities relating to operat-
ing activities are adjusted for currency translation effects. The cash flows 
from investing and financing activities are based on actual payments 
and receipts.

Liabilities related to financing activities can be reconciled as follows:
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11	 Contingent Liabilities
In December 2019, the Company was informed by the U. S. Securities 
and Exchange Commission (the SEC) that the SEC had commenced an 
inquiry into BMW Group’s vehicle sales practices and reporting. On Jan-
uary 22, 2020, the SEC formally opened an investigation into potential 
violations of U. S. securities laws by the Company relating to disclosures 
regarding BMW Group’s unit sales of new vehicles. 

This matter was settled in September 24, 2020 with the SEC, without 
admitting or denying the allegations, and BMW Group consented to the 
entry of an Order finding violations of the U. S. Securities Act and agreed 
to pay a penalty of $18 million. Certain BMW Group entities and their 
officers are defendants in private securities litigation following the SEC 
Order. Possible risks for the BMW Group cannot be quantified at present. 
Further disclosures pursuant to IAS 37.86 cannot be provided at present.

12	 Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events for potential recogni-
tion, measurement, or disclosure in the financial statements occurring 
after the reported period through the date of this report April 25, 2022 
and concluded no such events occurred.

The war in Ukraine had no impact on Company’s Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2021. Any potential effects on the BMW 
Group’s business performance are being monitored on an ongoing ba-
sis. Due to the current situation, local production in Russia as well as 
the export of automobiles and motorcycles to the Russian market have 
been discontinued for the foreseeable future. The resulting supply re-

strictions have led to production schedule adjustments and interruptions 
at a number of BMW Group plants, which in turn is likely to have a 
negative impact on automobile sales figures. For this reason, the cor-
responding key performance indicators reported by the Automotive 
segment are now forecast to be down on the previous year. The war in 
Ukraine is not currently expected to have a significant impact on the 
business performance of the Motorcycles and Financial Services seg-
ments. Current estimates and assumptions for the financial year 2022, 
to the extent already known, have been taken into account and de-
scribed in the outlook. However, the outlook does not factor in a signif-
icant tightening of sanctions against Russia and/or an escalation of the 
conflict outside Ukraine. Similarly, additional major price hikes for en-
ergy and raw materials, including rises triggered by the war in Ukraine 
and/or the related sanctions, have not been taken into account.

BMW US Capital, LLC

April 25, 2022
Christian Kunz
President
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